
i

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE,
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX

Telephone:  01730 266551
Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Thursday, 31 January 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership:      Councillor I Thomas (Chairman)

Councillors R Ayer, D Ashcroft, K Budden, K Carter, F Cowper, N Drew, 
D Evans, A Glass, M Johnson, A Joy, C Louisson, J Matthews, R Mocatta, 
D Orme, D Phillips, S Pond (Vice-Chairman), S Schillemore and A Williams

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS)

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: Wednesday, 23 January 2019

Contact Officer: Lisa Papps 01730 234073
Email:  lisa.papps@easthants.gov.uk

Working in Partnership



ii

Page Nos
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Confirmation of Minutes  

Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes.

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2019, circulated under 
separate cover. 

3. Chairman's Announcements  

4. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter. 

Matters for Decision

5. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  

6. Future Items  9 - 10

7. Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place  

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items

Section I

7.(i)  21594/023/FUL/LTu - Searle & Taylor House, The Dene, Ropley, 
Alresford, SO24 0BH  
CleverTouch

Change of use from mixed use (retail, office and garage) to B1 
Business (office use) [amended description]

11 - 24



iii

7.(ii)  58086/HSE/BB - 22 Stonehill Road, Headley Down, Bordon, GU35 
8ET  
Mr Millard

Two storey side extension and single storey rear extension following 
demolition of conservatory and garage side wall (as amended by 
plans received (17/01/2019)

25 - 34

Section II

There are no Section 2 items within this agenda.

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items

Section I

8.(i)  SDNP/18/02564/FUL - The Queens Hotel, High Street, Selborne, 
Alton, GU34 3JH  
Mr Guy Macklin

Conversion and alteration of the existing Queens building and barn to 
form 4 residential dwellings, including demolition of single storey 
structures, and the erection of 1 detached dwelling within the 
grounds, with associated parking and landscaping . (Final Bat Survey 
Report for Barn received 22/6/2018)  Amended drawings received 3 
August 2018  Updated arboricultural information 28/9/2018

35 - 78

Section II

There are no Section 2 items within this agenda.



iv



v

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/




PLANNING COMMITTEE 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority. 

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can determine 
planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area of the district 
on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South Downs National 
Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP.  

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT 

The report is divided into two main parts;  

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.   

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which the 
Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National Park 
Authority.   

Each part of the report is split into two sections:   

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations  

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, details 
of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items. 

Section 2 – Other matters  

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse.  



No formal presentation will be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be 
no public participation.” 

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are understood 
to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in advance of the 
Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports may have been 
prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  
Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between 
preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where additional information has 
been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper will be circulated at the 
meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to members of the public. 

3. PLANNING POLICY 

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material policies 
or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and other material 
considerations will also be taken into account.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The relevant development plans are the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations 
2016 and the saved policies in the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 
2006.  The Development Plan also includes made neighbourhood Plans. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.   

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 states:  
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”   

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development that 
departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it should 
proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-date in 
terms of housing delivery.   

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also fairly 
and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters of 
what constitutes a material consideration.   



All the fundamental factors involved in land-use planning are included, such as the 
number, size, layout, siting, design, and external appearance of buildings and the 
proposed means of access, together with landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, 
and the availability of infrastructure.   

 

4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are: 

 loss of property value  loss of view 
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants 
 the impact of construction 

work 
 property maintenance issues 

 need for development (save in 
certain defined circumstances) 

 the identity or personal characteristics of 
the applicant 

 competition between firms,   or matters that are dealt with by other 
legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not 
a reason to refuse planning permission 
or defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation. 

 

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  Nevertheless, 
where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to relevant 
considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.   

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because there 
are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its merits in 
the light of all the material considerations.  

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a clear 
land-use planning justi cation for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way that is 
clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special and 
precise justi cation.  

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations should 
meet the Secretary of State's policy tests. 



  They should be:  
 necessary; 
 relevant to planning; 
 directly related to the proposed development; 
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and 
 reasonable in all other respects. 

 

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that planning 
permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for unacceptable 
development to be permitted because of bene ts or inducements offered by a 
developer, which are not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration to be taken into account 
when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it is for the Council to decide 
what weight should be attached to a particular material consideration.  

6. PLANNING APPEALS  

Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the speci ed period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it: 
 

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time. 

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance. 

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show clearly, 
why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be 

 complete,  
 precise,  
 specific 
 relevant to the application, and 
 supported by substantiated evidence.  

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice  

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence. 

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal but 
rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision. 



(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed. 
 
The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council: 
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF, 
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach.  
An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site, 

(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law, 
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable, 

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the planning 
authority where circumstances have not materially changed, 

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances, 

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage, 

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions, 

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or 

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters. 

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE 

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an application 
to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. In general, 
this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State will not interfere 
with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is necessary to do so.  The 
Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of development proposals that directs 
local authorities to consult with the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission. 



8. PROPRIETY 

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in planning 
matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning applications 
they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can include views 
expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support for a proposal is 
not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, unless it is founded 
upon valid planning reasons.  

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS  

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the public 
interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and private 
interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not whether 
owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience nancial or other 
loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would unacceptably 
affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought to be protected 
in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of private property are 
therefore not material planning consideration. 

10. OTHER LEGISLATION  

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular:  

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities.  

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for providing 
a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by providing a 
lower standard of service.  

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain and 
promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic rights 
of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in order to 
protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The speci c Articles of 
the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), 
Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), 
Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property).  All planning 
applications are assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the 
development proposal is compatible with the Act.  If there is a potential conflict, 
this will be highlighted in the report on the relevant item. 



11. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak must 
have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 hours 
before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at the 
Committee meeting itself. 

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will be 
allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the Committee 
meeting.   

12.  INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS 

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The files 
and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect. 

13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the event 
of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s decision.  
Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications may result in 
the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning appeal.  Officers will 
aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such 
circumstances. 

 
Simon Jenkins 
Director of Regeneration and Place 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case) 
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014 
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016 
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies 
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks and 

Petersfield 
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements 
 any other document specifically referred to in the report. 





PLANNING COMMITTEE

31 January 2019

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE VISIT

The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site visits under 
this item.

No new major applications have been submitted since the previous agenda of 
10 January 2019.  Councillors may suggest possible future site visits under 
this item. 







PART 1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

Applications to be determined by the
Council as the Local Planning Authority

31 January 2019

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Item No.: 01
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Change of use from mixed use (retail, office and garage) to B1 
Business (office use) [amended description]

LOCATION: Searle & Taylor House, The Dene, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0BH
REFERENCE 21594/023 PARISH: Ropley
APPLICANT:  CleverTouch
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY:

23 December 2018

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 27 December 2018
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr C Louisson
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION

This application is included on the agenda at request of Cllr Charles Louisson for the 
following reasons:
 



 It would not have parking appropriate to the site;
 It would harm the amenity enjoyed by occupiers of nearby properties; and
 It would be of a scale of activity that harms the character, appearance or 

environment of the site and its surroundings.

Site and Development

Searle and Taylor House is a large detached building occupying a corner site within the 
settlement policy boundary of Ropley.  The building forms part of a linear row of development 
set back from the A31 (The Dene) and served by an access road which runs adjacent to the 
highway.  The site also has a frontage to Darvill Road.  The neighbouring properties are 
predominantly residential; a former newsagent is situated to the west of the site but this is 
now vacant. 

The building, built predominantly in brick, is comprised of several attached sections, including 
a ground floor showroom to the front, garage to rear and first floor office. The showroom is 
currently occupied by a kitchen retailer, with parking spaces provided on a hard standing area 
to the front.  A yard area, secured within the site and accessed by an entrance gate, is also 
located to the right of the front entrance of the building.

The applicant seeks a change of use of the premises from the existing mixed use (retail, 
office and garage) to B1(a) office use, as a marketing automation consultancy. 

Relevant Planning History

21594/017 - Change of use from car sales/workshop to kitchen sales/workshop.  Permission 
22/06/2007 
21594/018 - Installation of two windows and one door on west elevation.  Permission 
19/11/2007
21594/020 - One pair of two storey semi-detached dwellings with associated parking following 
demolition of existing workshop.  Permission 04/04/2011
21594/021 - One pair of two storey semi-detached dwellings, new access and associated 
parking, following demolition of the existing workshop (alternative scheme to planning consent 
21594/020).  Permission 14/08/2012
21594/022 - Installation of two windows to west elevation.  Permission 11/05/2015

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP8 - Town and village facilities and services
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport



East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

IB2 - Industrial or Business Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries
HE2 - Alterations and Extensions to Buildings
S5 - Local and Village Shops

Vehicle Parking Standards SPD July 2018

Submission Ropley Neighbourhood Plan (December 2018)

Policy 2: Settlement Policy Boundaries
Policy 12: Impact of New Development
Policy 23: Protecting Community Facilities

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2018

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

 6. Building a strong, competitive economy 
 9. Promoting sustainable transport 
12. Achieving well-designed places 

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

EHDC Environmental Health (Pollution) - Advise no comments to make on this application. 

HCC Local Highway Authority - Is satisfied that development would not have a severe 
detrimental impact on the operation or safety of the local highway network. No objection.

EHDC Traffic Management Team - Advise that all parking should be accommodated within 
site boundary as there are no nearby public parking spaces.

Ropley Parish Council - Object. The parking available on site is insufficient to meet the 
identified needs of the company. A number of the spaces noted for parking are highways land 
or in Darvil Road which is a narrow residential road.  Whilst the company will be encouraging 
off site parking in Alresford with car sharing this will not be enforceable.

Representations

14 comments received; 13 objecting and 1 not objecting but raising concerns. The following 
issues were raised in the representations, as summarised below:



i) Concerns over noise 
ii) Lack of adequate parking on site
iii) Concerns vehicles will parking in adjacent Darvill Road and other parts of the immediate 
vicinity, resulting in inconvenience to local residents and lack of access for emergency 
vehicles
iv) Increase traffic flows in area harming road safety

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Impact upon scale and character of building and local area
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
4. Highway implications

Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development

Policy CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to development within the Settlement 
Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of development.  Policy CP2 
identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five levels of sustainable settlements.  
The application site falls within one of the identified SPB within the East Hants District Local 
Plan: 2nd Review.

It is noted that Policy 2 of the submitted Ropley Neighbourhood Plan proposes a minor 
change to the settlement policy boundary in this location, which would move the boundary 
back from the edge of the A31 to the front elevation of Searle and Taylor House, resulting in 
the parking area to the front being outside the SPB.  The proposal does not propose any 
extensions to the built form extending over the revised boundary, the area remaining as 
parking.  It is also noted at this stage in its preparation, the submission Ropley 
Neighbourhood Plan is still at a relatively early stage in its progression towards adoption, 
therefore in accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, only limited weight can be applied to 
the policies contained therein. 

The building in its entirety measures 1040 square metres GEA, and an approximate 
breakdown of the floorspace is as follows:
 323 square metres used as A1 Retail
 245 square metres used as B1(a) Office
 472 square metres used as B2 / Sui Generis (car showroom / garage services element)

The applicant seeks a change of use of the whole building to a B1(a) office use, including the 
kitchen showroom area which is currently used for A1 retail purposes.  It is understood the 
first floor of the front of the building, together with the linked section which connects it to the 
garage at the rear, has been historically used as office space, although it is currently little 
used.  Thus this part of the building (245 sqm) is already in B1(a) office use.



The attached garage to the rear was previously used as part of a car sales and garage 
workshop business called Ropley Toyota which used to operate at the site. Car sales are a 
sui generis use and the car workshop would be B2.  The garage section of the building is 
currently used partially as a storeroom for the kitchen retailer and partially for some low level 
vehicle storage and maintenance operations, thus would require a change of use to B1(a).  It 
understood that the kitchen showroom area was also previously used as the car sales office, 
with cars stored on the forecourt, yard and garage. 

The retail section of the building occupies approximately a third of the overall floorspace of 
the building.  Policy S5 of the Local Plan: Second Review states that the change of use of 
local and village shops from A1 use will only be permitted where all reasonable efforts have 
been made to let or sell the premises as a shop. The premises are used as a kitchen 
showroom, which as a specialist retailer, and not considered to be a ‘local village shop’ in the 
sense it provides a local shopping facility to nearby residents. On this basis it is not 
considered that the proposal conflicts with the aims of Policy S5 of the Local Plan.

Policy CP8 of the JCS states that the vitality and viability of the district's centres should be 
maintained and improved, including local parades and small local centres. Again, the kitchen 
showroom is more of a specialist commercial type retailer, which was formerly a garage / car 
showroom.  Whilst it is noted that the adjacent newsagents is now closed, the loss of the retail 
unit occupied by the kitchen showroom is not considered to be harmful to the vitality and 
viability of this area and would therefore accord with the aims of Policy CP8.  It is also noted 
that the premises are not listed as a community facility in Policy 23 of the submission Ropley 
Neighbourhood Plan.

Policy IB2 of the East Hants Local Plan (2006) states that planning permission will be granted 
for the expansion or intensification of existing industrial or business uses within the policy 
boundaries of settlements, provided that the proposed development: 
a. would have a layout, access, parking, landscaping and other requirements appropriate to 
the site; 
b. would not harm the amenity enjoyed by occupiers of nearby properties; 
c. would be of a scale and type of activity that does not harm the character, appearance or 
environment of the site and its surroundings;  
d. would be easily accessible by public transport, bicycle and on foot; and 
e. would not generate traffic of a type or amount inappropriate to local roads or would require 
improvements that would harm the character of roads in the area.  

From the above assessment it is concluded that the principle of development for a change of 
use of the entire building to a B1 use would assist in maintaining employment in this location 
and is considered acceptable, subject to the detailed planning consideration discussed below. 

2. Impact upon scale and character of building and local area

Policy HE2 of the Local Plan requires that alterations and extensions to buildings are 
designed to take account of the design, scale, and character of the original building, its plot 
size and its setting. 



Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that respect the 
area's particular characteristics.  It requires that developments are sympathetic to their setting 
in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining buildings, spaces 
around buildings, and that developments should make a positive contribution to the overall 
appearance of the area.

No external alterations are proposed to the building as part of the proposal, with only internal 
refurbishment indicated.  As such, the building would continue to have a similar appearance 
as existing, thus would not effect the character or appearance of the area. 

3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing.

Policy CP29 criterion (d) requires development to be sympathetic to its setting in terms of 
scale, height, massing and density, and its relationship to adjoining buildings, spaces around 
buildings and landscape features. Section 12 Para 127 f of the NPPF requires good amenity 
for all for development proposals. 

Policy IB2 of the East Hants Local Plan (2006) states that planning permission will be granted 
for the expansion or intensification of existing industrial or business uses within the policy 
boundaries of settlements, provided that the proposed development would not harm the 
amenity enjoyed by occupiers of nearby properties nor would harm the character, appearance 
or environment of the site and its surroundings. 

Part of the building already has lawful use as B1, and it is not considered that the use of the 
existing retail / garage space for a B1 use would result in additional noise or disturbance 
emanating from the site, indeed may be seen as an improvement over the former garage 
services use.  It should also be noted that a B1 use by its definition is one which is considered 
appropriate for operation within residential areas.  In addition, the Council's Environmental 
Health Officer (Pollution) has raised no objection to the proposal. 

The applicant's supporting statement advises that their typical use of the building would be: 
08:30 - 18:00 Monday to Thursday and 08:30 - 17:30 on Fridays, with no weekend working.  
In the event of a recommendation for approval, it is recommended that the hours of operation 
are secured through a condition. 

It is therefore considered the proposal would accord with CP27 and CP29 of the JCS, Policy 
IB2 of the Local Plan and Section 12 of the NPPF. 



4. Highway implications

Policy CP31 of the JCS requires that regard is had to any impact on the safety and 
convenience of the public highway. Policy IB2 of the East Hants Local Plan (2006) states that 
planning permission will be granted for the expansion or intensification of existing industrial or 
business uses provided that the proposed development would be easily accessible by public 
transport, bicycle and on foot and would not generate traffic of a type or amount inappropriate 
to local roads. Neighbour representations have been received which have raised various 
issues relating to highways safety and inadequate parking on site. 

The site currently has 11 vehicle parking spaces, 10 immediately to the front of the building 
and 1 within the yard area, including 1 disabled bay.  Space exists within the yard for 9 cycle 
and 2 motorbike spaces but no part of the yard is currently formally designated as such. 
Submitted documents from the applicant confirm that the area to the front of the building is 
within their ownership.  It is also advised that the business currently employees 55 people, 
with 8 predominately based out of the office.

The Council's "Vehicle Parking Standards" Supplementary Planning Document states that B1 
office space should normally provide 1 parking space per 30 square metres, together with 
additional parking for cycles, motorcycles and allocated disabled bays. The premises as 
proposed measure 1040 square metres of B1 space, which results in the following 
requirements:

 35 vehicle parking spaces
 7 long stay cycle parking spaces
 2 short stay cycle parking spaces
 2 motorcycle spaces
 2 allocated disabled spaces as parking of the overall vehicle parking provision

It should be noted that when applied to the existing use of the site, the vehicle parking 
standards would require 1 space for every 20 square metres of covered retail areas, 1 space 
for every 30 square metres for B1(a) office use and 1 space for every 45 square metres for 
B2/Sui Generis light industry, equating to a total provision of 34 spaces. As only 11 spaces 
are currently provided, there is currently a substantial underprovision of parking spaces for 
the current use, which is comparable to that of the proposed scheme.  

The applicant recognises that the constraints of the site mean that it cannot fully 
accommodate the minimum parking requirements.  The Supporting Statement advises that a 
Green Transport Plan would be provided, to include the following measures: car sharing 
schemes, off-site parking permits at public car parks, public transport use, home working and 
encouragement for cycling through the provision of showering facilities. 

Section 6 of the NPPF states the planning policies and decisions should help create the 
conditions in which business can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth. 



The Highway Authority has been consulted and advised that the proposal may result in an 
increase in vehicular traffic in the vicinity. However, due to the location directly off the A31 the 
Highway Authority is satisfied that this increase would not have a severe detrimental impact 
on the operation or safety of the local highway network. As such, the Local Highway Authority 
has no objection to the proposal. The Council's Traffic Team advise that sufficient parking 
should be provided for on site

To sum up, the proposed use is unable to meet the minimum parking standards set out within 
the Vehicle Parking Standards SPD, thus if considered as a new build scheme, would not be 
appropriate.  However, in terms of other material considerations it is noted that the current 
use of the site has a similar under provision of parking spaces.  In addition, the proposal is for 
the re-use of an existing building to provide a B1 office use, would provide economic activity 
to the local economy.  A Green Travel Plan is also being offered, which could be seen as a 
betterment above the existing situation.  Therefore, in terms of the planning balance needs, it 
is considered that the economic benefits of the reuse of this building, in combination with the 
existing parking situation and provision of a Green Travel Plan, outweigh the under provision 
of parking from through proposed use and is supported. 

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

Ropley Parish Council objects to the under provision of parking on the site, which is 
discussed in detail in section 4 above. 

Conclusion

The site is located within the Settlement Policy Boundary for Ropley where the change of use 
of the building to a B1 Office use is considered to be acceptable in principle.  The use of the 
building as offices would not result in any alterations to the external appearance of the 
building and would have an acceptable relationship with the amenities for neighbouring 
properties.  It is acknowledged that the proposed use would have an under provision of 
vehicle parking, when assessed against the Council's adopted standards, however, the 
economic benefits of the reuse of this building, in combination with the existing parking 
situation and provision of a Green Travel Plan, outweigh the under provision of parking from 
through proposed use.  For these reasons the application is recommended for the condition 
approval of planning permission. 

RECOMMENDATION

 PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990



2 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a 
plan detailing the cycle and motorcycle parking provision has been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
areas shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles, as well as 
those agreed for the parking cycles and motorcycles shall have been 
made available in accordance with the agreed details.  The parking areas 
shall then be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all 
times.
Reason - To make provision for off street parking in the interests of 
highway safety.

3 The premises hereby granted B1 use shall not be used outside the hours 
of:
 08:30 to 18:00 Monday to Thursday
 08:30 to 17:30 Fridays.
and at no time at a weekend or a recognised public Bank Holiday.
Reason - To ensure that the amenities of nearby residential occupiers are 
not detrimentally affected by the use of the site outside reasonable 
working times. 

4 The use of the premises hereby granted B1 use shall not commence until 
a Green Travel Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority.  The use of the building must be operated in 
accordance with the agreed Plan thereafter.
Reason - In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of local 
residents. It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement 
condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the use of the 
development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.

5 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
Planning Statement REV A
Appendix a - Photographic Schedule
Location plan
Parking plan

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development



Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by:
offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial 
site visit. 

CASE OFFICER: Luke Turner 01730 234292 Wed/Thur/Fri
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 01    Searle & Taylor House, The Dene, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0BH

Block plan



SECTION 1   Item 01    Searle & Taylor House, The Dene, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0BH

Parking plan







Item No.: 02
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or 
necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Two storey side extension and single storey rear extension following 
demolition of conservatory and garage side wall (as amended by 
plans received (17/01/2019)

LOCATION: 22 Stonehill Road, Headley Down, Bordon, GU35 8ET
REFERENCE 58086 PARISH: Headley
APPLICANT: Mr Millard
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY:

24 January 2019

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 12 February 2019
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr A J Williams / Cllr R C S Millard
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION

This application is included on the agenda as it has been submitted by a District 
Councillor.

The Monitoring Officer confirms that this proposal has been dealt with in accordance 
with the Council’s procedures for handling planning proposals submitted by or on 
behalf of Council Members and Staff.

Site and Development

22 Stonehill Road is a detached dwelling on the north-west side of the road, with materials 
of red brickwork under a tiled roof.  The land slopes down south-east to north-west, with the 
dwelling at a lower level from Stonehill Road.  The site is accessed via a shared driveway, 
which also serves two neighbouring properties.  The dwelling is set back from the road with 
a parking and turning area to the front, leading to an integral garage.  The enclosed rear 
garden is screened by a mix of high hedging, fencing and some mature planting.  The site 
is within the settlement policy boundary of Headley.



Permission is sought for a two storey side extension and a flat roofed, single storey rear 
extension following demolition of a conservatory and the garage side wall.  The two storey 
side extension would have a hipped roof and be level with the existing ridge height.  A first 
floor window is proposed to the front and rear elevations.  No side windows are proposed.  
The integral garage would be converted to a kitchen area and utility room, with a new side 
entrance. The flat roofed, single storey extension would measure 3.8m long x 6.2m wide x 
3.2m high, with a parapet to screen the flat roof behind.  Bi-folding doors are proposed to 
the rear elevation with a door and full length window to the side elevation.  The dwelling 
would remain four bedroomed.  Materials would be to match the existing.

An amended plan has been received to show a new entrance door to the north-east (side) 
elevation, in-line with the proposed floor plans.

Relevant Planning History

None.

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

H10 - Special Housing Areas
HE2 - Alterations and Extensions to Buildings

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2018

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

12. Achieving well-designed places 

Headley Parish Plan 2006

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

Headley Parish Council - No objection.



Representations

One letter of comment has been received concerning the private surface road being kept 
clear of vehicles at all times throughout the building works.  [Officer Note: this is a civil 
matter and not considered to be a material planning consideration and, therefore, will not be 
dealt with in this report].

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
3. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and impact on the character of the area
4. Highway implications

Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development

Policy CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to development within the Settlement 
Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of development.  Policy CP2 
identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five levels of sustainable settlements. 
Policy CP2 identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five levels of sustainable 
settlements. The application site falls within one of the identified SPB, and given that the 
proposal is for the extension of an existing residential property, the principle of the 
development is acceptable, subject to all other relevant planning considerations and 
policies which will be discussed below.
 
2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing.  Policy CP29 criterion (d) requires development to be 
sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, height, massing and density, and its relationship 
to adjoining buildings, spaces around buildings and landscape features.  Section 12 
Paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF requires that places should be created with a high standard 
of amenity for existing and future users.

The adjacent neighbouring property at 24 Stonehill Road is sited to the south-west of the 
application site with high hedge screening to the side boundary between the two properties 
facing the front parking area.  The proposed two storey side extension would not be visible 
from 24 Stonehill Road as it would be screened by the host dwelling.  

24 Stonehill Road has no side openings facing the rear garden area of the application site.  
An entrance door and full length window are proposed within the side elevation of the single 
storey rear extension facing this neighbouring property.  However, it would be sited to the 
far side away from 24 Stonehill Road with a distance of 9m between dwellings and partially 
screened by fencing and some mature planting to the side boundary between. 



The adjacent neighbouring property at 20 Stonehill Road has a single storey side 
projection, with the side elevation facing the application site.  There are no windows within 
the side elevation, but has a ground floor front and rear window.
  
The proposal would be visible from 20 Stonehill Road. The two storey extension would 
extend by 525mm from the existing side elevation towards this neighbouring property, with 
a distance of 0.8m to the side boundary and 2.5m between dwellings.  An entrance door 
would be within the side elevation, however, no first floor side windows are proposed facing 
this neighbouring property.  The eaves height has been lowered by 600m to this 
neighbouring side, with the hipped roof pitching away. 

The flat roofed, single storey rear extension would replace the existing conservatory.  
Although it would project 1m further than the existing conservatory, the height would be 
3.2m with a distance of 2.5m between dwellings and partially screened by the existing 
fence screening.  It is acknowledged that there would be some impact to the neighbouring 
property at 20 Stonehill Road, however, it is considered that there would be no excessive 
overshadowing or loss of privacy that would warrant a refusal of the application in this 
respect.

The first floor windows to the front and rear elevations would afford oblique views over the 
front and rear gardens of the neighbouring properties, however, there are already first floor 
windows within the front and rear elevations with a view over the garden areas of the 
neighbouring properties and the proposed development is unlikely to cause any significant 
additional overlooking.

As such, it is considered that the proposal would be sufficiently distanced, orientated and 
designed so as not to have an unacceptable effect on the amenities of the neighbouring 
properties, in particular to their outlook, privacy or available light.  Having regard to the 
above, the proposal is compliant with policies CP27 and CP29 of the JCS.

3. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and impact on the character of the area

Saved Policy HE2 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review requires that 
alterations and extensions to buildings are designed to take account of the design, scale, 
and character of the original building, its plot size and its setting.

Policy H10 - Special Housing Areas - states planning permission will only be granted for 
residential development provided that: a) there is no harm to the character and appearance 
of the area; b) as many trees and landscape features are retained; c) the size of a new 
dwelling is in-keeping with its plot size and d) within the Headley Down Special Housing 
Area plot sizes are more than 0.07 hectares excluding land in the highway.

Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that respect 
the area's particular characteristics.  It requires that developments are sympathetic to their 
setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings, and that development should make a positive contribution to the 
overall appearance of the area.



The immediate area is characterised by detached dwellings set within reasonably sized 
plots. The two storey side extension would have a hipped roof and be level with the existing 
ridge height. The existing covered porch area would extend to the front.  Materials would be 
to match the existing dwelling. 

The proposal would be screened from view when travelling along Stonehill Road with partial 
views from the private access driveway to the front of the property.  The proposed would be 
set back from the front boundary by approximately 10m.

The scale and bulk of the proposal would be in keeping with the existing property and 
surrounding buildings and would not appear overly dominant in the streetscene or wider 
area.  Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP29 of the JCS 
and policy HE2 of the Local Plan.

4. Highway implications

Policy CP31 of the JCS requires that regard is had to any impact on the safety and 
convenience of the public highway. The parking requirements and availability would not 
change as a result of the proposal, ensuring there would be no highways impact.

The host dwelling would remain a four bedroomed property.  The Council's adopted vehicle 
parking standards suggest that there would be a requirement for 3 parking spaces. 
Although the integral garage would be converted to a kitchen and utility room, it is 
considered that the existing parking provision within the curtilage is adequate.  Having 
regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP31 of the JCS.

Conclusion

The proposal is considered to be acceptable as it would be in scale and character with the 
dwelling, would not detract from the character and appearance of the area, would not have 
an unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and would not have an 
adverse effect on the safety and function of the highway network. As such, the proposal is 
in compliance with the relevant policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy, and the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review.

RECOMMENDATION  PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.

Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990

2 The external materials to be used shall match, as closely as possible, in 
type, colour, and texture those of the existing building unless details of 
other suitable materials are submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
Reason - To ensure that a harmonious visual relationship is achieved 
between the new and the existing developments.



3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no first floor windows shall 
at any time be inserted in the north-east (side) elevation of the extension 
hereby permitted without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining 
residential property.

4 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
CIL form
BA054_01_001 Rev A - Existing plans and elevations
BA054_03_001 Rev A - Proposed plans and elevations

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial 
site visit and amendments received.  No further assistance was required.

CASE OFFICER: Bernie Beckett 01730 234336
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 02    22 Stonehill Road, Headley Down, Bordon, GU35 8ET

Block plan



SECTION 1   Item 02    22 Stonehill Road, Headley Down, Bordon, GU35 8ET

Existing elevations



SECTION 1   Item 02    22 Stonehill Road, Headley Down, Bordon, GU35 8ET

Proposed elevations





PART 2

SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE 

Applications to be determined by the council on behalf 
of the South Downs National Park Authority

31 January 2019

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Item 01

Report to Planning Committee
Date 10 January 2019
By Director of Regeneration and Place
Local Authority East Hampshire District Council
Application 
Number

SDNP/18/02564/FUL

Applicant Mr Guy Macklin
Application Conversion and alteration of the existing Queens building and 

barn to form 4 residential dwellings, including demolition of single 
storey structures, and the erection of 1 detached dwelling within 
the grounds, with associated parking and landscaping. (Final Bat 
Survey Report for Barn received 22/6/2018) Amended drawings 
received 3 August 2018 Updated arboricultural information 
28/9/2018 Amended site plan 3/1/2019 (refuse storage 
relocated)

Address The Queens Hotel, High Street, Selborne, Alton, GU34 3JH

Recommendation: That the application be Approved for the reasons and 
subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 10 of this report.



Executive Summary

This application is included on the agenda at the discretion of the Director of 
Regeneration and Place.

1 Site Description

The Queens Hotel in Selborne is located on the north-east side of the High Street, 
situated within the Settlement Policy Boundary, Conservation Area and South Downs 
National Park.   The site of the hotel is partly within and partly outside the Settlement 
Policy Boundary.  To the rear (wholly outside the SPB) is a field also in the same 
ownership but physically separated from the public house and its garden.  There is a 
separate barn building to the western side of the public house with car parking to its 
front and rear.  Access to the site is available both from the High Street and from 
Huckers Lane.

2 Proposal

The application relates to the whole public house site but not to the field to its rear.  It 
proposes the extension and conversion of the barn to a dwelling, a new dwelling to the 
south-east side of the public house and the conversion of the public house building into 
three dwellings.  A wing of the public house building would be demolished to 
accommodate the proposed new dwelling to the south-east.

3 Relevant Planning History

SDNP/15/00929/TCA - Works to trees, 2015
SDNP/16/05403/FUL - Proposal for conversion of public house to residential use,

Withdrawn in 2017
SDNP/17/00527/ADV - Advertisement consent for hoarding granted in 2017
SDNP/17/04565/FUL - Extension and conversion of barn to form a dwelling, Refused 

in 2017
SDNP/17/04753/FUL - Refusal of permission for demolitions of parts of the Queens 

Hotel building, 2017
SDNP/17/05420/FUL - Refusal of permission for three bedroomed dwelling, 2018

4 Consultations 

East Hants Traffic Management Team - No adverse comments

HCC Highways Department - No objection subject to conditions relating to parking 
provision, access improvement onto Huckers Lane and provision of visibility splays at 
access from Huckers Lane to the B3006. 

SDNP Dark Skies Ranger (D Oakley) - No comments received



SDNPA Design Officer - No comments received

HCC - Archaeology Section - No archaeological issues raised

EH - Conservation Section - Originally raised concerns regarding the design of the 
proposed new dwelling.  Upon receipt of amended drawings, no objection subject to 
conditions.

EH - Drainage - No objection subject to conditions

EH - Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objection subject to advisory 
note

EH - Environmental Health - Pollution - No comments received

EH - Landscape Officer - No objection subject to conditions

EH - Arboricultural Officer - North - Arboricultural Officer. No objection subject to a 
condition being applied that requires all work to be carried out in strict accordance with 
the submitted Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method Statement as amended.

HCC - Ecology Group - No objection subject to a condition regarding ecological 
mitigation.

Natural England - No objection in terms of impact on European Protected sites 
(Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA).

Countryside Planning - Informative notes are recommended, should permission be 
granted.

Parish Council Consultee – Initial comments - At its meeting on 20 June 2018, 
Selborne Parish Council resolved to OBJECT to the above planning application. There 
were 5 votes in favour of objection, 1 vote against, 1 abstention due to conflict of 
interest and 1 abstention from Cllr Ashcroft, (our district councillor who sits on the 
EHDC planning committee). 

Because Selborne Parish Council has been involved in an application for ACV listing of 
The Queens on behalf of the local community, it may at first glance appear that the 
parish council could have predetermined the current planning application. It is the case, 
however, that the reason for submitting the ACV application was because the majority 
(65.26%) of respondents to a public consultation exercise in the village wanted The 
Queens to be listed as a community asset in line with the 2011 Localism Act and thus 
we pursued it on their behalf. At that point, the Councillors were not considering what 
might or might not be built on the site of the Queens in the future. 



The reasons for the parish council's objection to this planning application are as 
follows:

1. The current planning application does not specify that it is for a change of use. 

 EHDC has confirmed that the premises continues to have Use Class A4 (drinking 
establishment - public house). The applicant has assumed that the building has a Use 
Class A2 (office), which Selborne Parish Council believes to be wholly untrue: no 
amount of insisting that putting a desk into a building that is derelict, that has no 
electricity, that has had a debt collectors notice on the windows for unpaid electricity, 
that has wires hanging out of the ceiling, and that has had its doors removed and 
stacked up against the walls, makes it a genuine A2 Use. 

2. It is regrettable that in a small rural village there is no provision for any affordable 
housing within the proposals;

3. The proposals in the planning application include an apparent increase of about 
100% in the size of the barn. It is hard to see how an extension of this size is justified 
when it is looked at in the context of saved policies HE4, HE5 and HE6 of the EHDC 
Local Plan Second Review 2006;

4. The proposed detached dwelling requires demolition of the restaurant that the 
Conservation Officer has previously stated 'makes a positive contribution to the 
character of the Conservation Area'. No argument is made to explain why demolishing 
something that positively contributes to the character of the Conservation Area would 
be either beneficial to or acceptable in that Conservation Area;

5. Pedestrian access to the car park and the front of the new house is poor; 

6. The proposals include a large roof light above the living space in the new house and 
other roof lights including to the road frontage. These would emit light into the dark 
night sky ' something that is to be avoided, given the protection afforded to the dark 
night sky in this international Dark Night Sky reserve. There are also a number of roof 
lights in the barn which could have a similar impact;

7. We can find no information in the application about the Japanese Knotweed that is 
still on the site, even though there was a full report on this invasive plant in the 2016 
planning application;

8. There is concern about overcrowding of the site and about the density of 
development on the site. In particular, the proximity of the new house to the main 
building, together with its height and mass, will have a detrimental impact upon the 
surrounding conservation area and nearby listed buildings;

9. The proposed French doors to the first floor flat roof of the new house overlook 
Huckers Lane and could be intrusive upon other properties; 



10. The access onto the B3006 from Huckers Lane is extremely dangerous as the sight 
lines are almost non-existent to the left when emerging from the lane. This danger is 
compounded when cars are parked outside the village shop as traffic from the south is 
forced onto the right hand side of the B3006.

11. The sight lines at the access from the new barn house onto the B3006, beside 
Whites Cottage, would be virtually nil to the north;

12. Paragraph 4.6 of the Planning Statement in support of the planning application 
claims that Selborne Parish Council's evidence to the recent ACV Review Hearing into 
the ACV listing of The Queens was not substantiated.
In fact, we took to the Hearing the box containing all the responses to the public 
consultation exercise undertaken in the village. We offered these to EHDC in support 
of our evidence but were told they would not be needed. 

 At the Review Hearing, the owner openly said that he had 'bought the building as a 
development opportunity' for housing. By implication, this raises the question as to 
whether it was ever his genuine intention to sell The Queens as a pub and whether 
Savills' marketing reports were just an exercise that had to be gone through to try to 
persuade the planning authority to allow permission for the current planning 
application; 

13. Paragraph 4.7 of the Planning Statement in support of the planning application 
asserts that the ACV application was silent regarding s.88(2)(b) of the 2011 Act and 
does not evidence how it is realistic to think that there is a time in the next 5 years 
when there could be non-ancillary use of the building that would further the social 
wellbeing and interests of the local community. In contrast, the extensive past use of 
the pub is in fact a positive indicator for the future success of the business. The now 
incorporated and registered Community Interest Group (CIG) is currently in the process 
of producing a business plan, demonstrating the importance of the pub to the 
community. 

14. With regard to the applicant being at odds with the planning authority over the 
legitimate Use Class of The Queens, in our view the owner's massaging of planning 
policies to overcome the impasse is unconvincing. Policy CP16 talks about changes of 
use being permitted 'where the facility is no longer required and alternative facilities are 
easily accessible'' etc. In the case of The Queens, the pub is very much required by a 
number of people, as demonstrated by the community consultation exercise results 
and by the 90 members of the CIG who want to see The Queens run as a pub. There 
are no other alternative facilities that are easily accessible as the other pub in the 
village does not have the large function rooms, accommodation or extensive catering 
facilities and the village hall is self-service. 

15. Policy SD43 of the emerging Local Plan is also cited in the Planning Statement: 
 SD43 i. is already dealt with above; 



SD43 ii. requires that it be demonstrated that there is a lack of need for the existing 
facility, which is also dealt with above; 
SD43 iii. mentions alternative community facilities. The ACV application demonstrates 
that The Queens is very much needed, and that other community facilities in the village 
are different from and in no way come anywhere near to the facilities provided by The 
Queens. The Selborne Arms is small and has no large function room and the village 
hall is self-service with a very different atmosphere; 

The owner has allowed The Queens to deteriorate and become an 'eye-sore'. Some 
people in Selborne have understandably become appalled by its untidy and dilapidated 
condition: they are fed up with watching its gradual deterioration since he closed it in 
2016. Unsurprisingly, some see the present planning application as a solution to that. 

To others, the deterioration of the site has been deliberate on the part of the owner in 
the hope of persuading people to support a planning application even though it 
conflicts with the majority of respondents' wish to retain the Queens as a pub and their 
conviction that the restoration of the building could equally well be achieved by its 
restoration as a pub, its legitimate planning use. 

For all the above reasons, Selborne Parish Council OBJECTS to the planning 
application on planning grounds and requests that it be refused.

Further comments on amended drawings:

Parish Council Consultee - Selborne Parish Council reiterates its OBJECTION to the 
current planning application at The Queens. The amended plans tinker with design 
issues but they do not address the central issue, namely that The Queens does not 
benefit from 'residential Use'. EHDC planning department has confirmed that The 
Queens continues to benefit from Use Class A4 (drinking establishment - public 
house). The applicant pretends that the building has a Use Class A2 (office), a claim 
that Selborne Parish Council believes to be wholly fabricated. No change of Use has 
been applied for, and therefore Use Class A4 remains.

That central issue aside, there is still no provision for any affordable housing within the 
site proposals, even though the focus on housing development within National Parks is 
on affordable housing, not on market housing; 

The proposals in the amended planning application still include an apparent increase of 
about 100% in the size of the barn. It is hard to see how an extension of this size is 
justified when it is looked at in the context of saved policies HE4, HE5 and HE6 of the 
EHDC Local Plan Second Review 2006; 



The proposed detached dwelling requires demolition of the restaurant that the 
Conservation Officer has previously stated makes a positive contribution to the 
character of the Conservation Area. No argument is made to explain why demolishing 
something that positively contributes to the character of the Conservation Area would 
be either beneficial to or acceptable in that Conservation Area. The amended plans go 
some way towards improving the design of the proposed house but such amendments 
in no way satisfy the Conservation objection. 

The proposals still include a large roof light above the living space in the new house 
and other roof lights including to the road frontage. These would emit light into the dark 
night sky, something to be avoided given the protection afforded to the dark night sky 
in this international Dark Night Sky reserve. There are also a number of roof lights in 
the barn that could have a similar detrimental impact; 

Despite minor alterations to the design and materials for the proposed new house, its 
location, design, and scale in height and bulk do not relate well to the character of the 
area and remain inappropriate in the Conservation Area;

There is still no information in the application about the Japanese Knotweed that 
remains on the site, even though there was a full report on this invasive plant in the 
2016 planning application; 

There is still concern about overcrowding of the site and about the density of 
development on the site. In particular, the proximity of the new house to the main 
building, together with its height and mass, will have a detrimental impact upon the 
surrounding conservation area and nearby listed buildings; 

The access onto the B3006 from Huckers Lane remains extremely dangerous as the 
sight lines are almost non-existent to the left when emerging from the lane. 

This danger is compounded when cars are parked outside the village shop as traffic 
from the south is forced onto the right hand side of the B3006. 

The sight lines at the access from the new barn house onto the B3006, beside Whites 
Cottage, would still be virtually nil to the north; 

The owner has openly acknowledged that he bought the building as a development 
opportunity for housing. By implication, this raises the question as to whether it was 
ever his genuine intention to sell The Queens as a pub, especially given the fact that 
the building was stripped of its pub features even before and whilst it was allegedly 
being marketed for sale as a pub. This raises the question as to whether Savills' 
marketing reports were simply an exercise that had to be gone through to try to 
persuade the planning authority to allow permission for the current planning 
application? 



The owner has allowed The Queens to deteriorate and to become an eye-sore. 
Understandably, some people in Selborne are appalled by its untidy and dilapidated 
condition: they are fed up with watching its gradual deterioration since the closure in 
2016 and, unsurprisingly, they see the present planning application as a solution to 
that. To other people, the deterioration of the site has been deliberate on the part of the 
owner in the hope of persuading people to support a planning application even though 
it conflicts with the majority of respondents' wish to retain the Queens as a pub and 
their conviction that the restoration of the building could equally well be achieved by its 
restoration as a pub, its legitimate planning use. 

Because of the high level of community support to retain The Queens as a pub, the 
parish council submitted a further ACV application in June. The result is awaited. The 
Conservation Officer has stated that 'in heritage terms the preferable use for the 
building would be to continue as a pub.' Thus, there is a heritage reason for keeping 
The Queens as a pub as well as a community support reason, and the applicant has 
not demonstrated otherwise on either count.

The amended plans still fail to address the fundamental issue of the permitted Use of 
the premises. Only the very first of the many applications regarding The Queens 
(SDNP/16/05403/FUL), which was subsequently withdrawn in the light of overwhelming 
objections, was properly submitted in relation to 'Change of use from public house 
(Use Class A4) to 6 residential units (Use Class C3), etc.' Each and every single one of 
the subsequent applications, including the present one, has omitted this necessary 
wording. Until this essential issue is addressed in a planning application, we believe 
that planning permission cannot legitimately even be considered.

Accordingly, Selborne Parish Council OBJECTS to the planning application and 
requests that it be refused. 

5 Representations

Representations have been received from 88 writers, some of whom have made more 
than one submission.  Out of these, 5 are comments, 20 are in support and 63 raise 
objections.

In support it is stated that:

The building can be sympathetically restored and retain its existing features;
Existing building has deteriorated and is untidy;
Building is an eyesore;
Village is unable to support two pubs;
New dwellings would complement the new refurbished pub and blend in with the village 
and enhance the local area;
Meets demand for new homes;
There is already an existing pub within the village;
Applicants other development sites are tasteful and sympathetic;



The Queens does not meet the criteria to be listed as an ACV;
In keeping with the village;
Aesthetically pleasing;
Has been rarely used for public overnight accommodation;
The use as a pub is unviable;
Selborne would benefit greatly from allowing the younger community to have an input;
In the past, it has attracted anti-social behaviour;
Minimal increase in traffic compared to use as a pub; 
Conversion will preserve the main part of the building.                             

In objection it is stated that:

Site lies within the SDNP;
Contrary to Policy CP16 of the JCS and SDNP Submission Policy SD43;
Contrary to NPPF;
Building dates back to C16th, and has significant historic association with Selborne;
The lawn for property 3 would be used by its residents and would block the view for 
vehicles exiting Huckers Lane;
Hedgerow would require maintenance;
The lane is suitable for only one vehicle so 12 additional vehicles plus delivery vehicles 
would be intolerable;
The applicant is responsible for the current state of the building;
Fixtures and fittings have been deliberately been removed to make it unviable;
Permanent loss of the pub;
Commercially unrealistic asking price;
The pub failed in the past due to high rentals charged by the brewery;
Selborne has already suffered from heavy traffic and damage to the highway;
Pub is a central and important asset to the community;
Could be a viable business again;
Listed buildings are already being affected by volume of traffic;
Developer is only interested in profit;
There are already plenty of residential properties in Selborne, including a number for 
sale on the market.  Selborne needs visitor accommodation;
The Queens is historically, the most important building in the village;
Impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings;
Links to Gilbert White;
The Queens offers disabled access unlike The Selborne Arms;
'A rigorous marketing exercise' has not been undertaken;
Neglect of the building is calculated to wear down residents;
No bed and breakfast facilities in the village. It is vital that accommodation is provided 
in the village.  The Queens provides the only accommodation in the village;
A huge number of people visit Selborne on a daily basis from school education visits to 
walking groups as it is a major tourist destination;
The Gilbert White and Oates Museum is now a wedding venue but has no 
accommodation to offer; 



Loss of The Queens will result in a shortfall in local service provision and would be 
detrimental to the long term economics of the village;
Recent ACV designation will allow the community interest group to commission a 
valuation which would enable the group to build a business case for the viability of the 
pub [Note the most recent ACV application for The Queens has been turned down];
Heritage Statement does not provide sufficient robust evidence to justify its conversion;
An assessment of the basement or cellar is reported to contain early stonework but is 
inaccessible;
New buildings are out of keeping and would not enhance the environment;
Applicant is failing to apply for change of use and the claim that it is used as offices is 
inaccurate;
Design and layout is similar to the 2016 application that was withdrawn, and
Highways safety at the junction of Huckers Lane and the High Street is raised as a 
concern.

6 Planning Policy Context

Applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory development plan in this area 
is the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, East Hampshire District 
Local Plan: 2nd Revision 2006, South Downs National Park Local Plan - Submission 
2018

The relevant policies to this application are set out in section 7, below.

National Park Purposes
The two statutory purposes of the SDNP designation are:

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage,  
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the 

special qualities of their areas.

If there is a conflict between these two purposes, conservation takes precedence. 
There is also a duty to foster the economic and social well being of the local community 
in pursuit of these purposes.



7 Planning Policy 

Relevant Government Planning Policy and Guidance 
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National Parks and 
the Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) which was issued on 24 July 2018. The Circular and NPPF 
confirm that National Parks have the highest status of protection, and the NPPF states 
at paragraph 172 that great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing 
landscape and scenic beauty in national parks and that the conservation and 
enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations and 
should be given great weight in National Parks.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
The following National Planning Policy Framework documents have been considered in 
the assessment of this application: 

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly 
relevant to the consideration of the development;

 1. Introduction
 2. Achieving sustainable development 
 3. Plan-making 
 4. Decision-making 
 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
 6. Building a strong, competitive economy 
 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 9. Promoting sustainable transport 
11. Making effective use of land 
12. Achieving well-designed places 
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their compliance 
with the NPPF and are considered to be complaint with the NPPF.

The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their compliance 
with the NPPF and are considered to be complaint with the NPPF.

The following policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy  are relevant to this application:

• CP10 - Spatial Strategy for Housing

• CP16 - Protection and Provision of Social Infrastructure, Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation

• CP2 - Spatial Strategy



• CP20 - Landscape

• CP21 - Biodiversity

• CP22 - Internationally Designated Sites

• CP24 - Sustainable Construction

• CP27 - Pollution

• CP29 - Design

• CP30 - Historic Environment

• CP31 - Transport

• CP32 - Infrastructure

The following policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 2nd Revision 2006 
are relevant to this application:

• HE2 - Alterations and Extensions to Buildings

• HE4 - New Development in a Conservation Area

• HE6 - Change of Use of a Building in a Conservation Area

• HE7 - Demolition in a Conservation Area

• HE8 - Development Affecting the Setting of a Conservation Area

• C6 - Tree Protection

• H3 - Residential Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries, Empty 
Home Strategy

•      T4 – Pedestrian and cycle routes

The following policies of the South Downs National Park Local Plan - Submission 
2018 are relevant to this application:

• Core Policy SD1 - Sustainable Development

• Strategic Policy SD4 - Landscape Character



• Strategic Policy SD5 - Design

• Strategic Policy SD9 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity

• Strategic Policy SD10 - International Sites

• Development Management Policy SD11 - Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows

• Strategic Policy SD12 - Historic Environment

• Development Management Policy SD13 - Listed Buildings

• Development Management Policy SD15 - Conservation Areas

• Development Management Policy SD16 - Archaeology

• Strategic Policy SD19 - Transport and Accessibility

•       Strategic Policy SD20 – Walking, Cycling and Equestrian Routes

• Development Management Policy SD22 - Parking Provision

•          Strategic Policy SD23 – Sustainable Tourism

• Strategic Policy SD25 - Development Strategy

• Strategic Policy SD26 - Supply of Homes

• Strategic Policy SD27 - Mix of Homes

• Strategic Policy SD36 - Town and Village Centres

• Strategic Policy SD42 - Infrastructure

• Development Management Policy SD43 - New and Existing Community 
Facilities

• Development Management Policy SD51 - Renewable Energy

Partnership Management Plan
The South Downs Partnership Management Plan (SDPMP) was adopted on 3 
December 2013. It sets out a Vision and long term Outcomes for the National Park, as 
well as 5 year Policies and a continually updated Delivery Framework. The SDPMP is 
a material consideration in planning applications and has some weight pending 
adoption of the SDNP Local Plan. 



The Draft South Downs National Park Local Plan

The South Downs Local Plan: Pre-Submission Local Plan was published under 
Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 for public consultation between 26 September to 21 November 2017, 
and the responses considered by the Authority. 

The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination in April 
2018. The Submission version of the Local Plan consists of the Pre-Submission Plan 
and the Schedule of Proposed Changes. It is a material consideration in the 
assessment of this planning application in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF, 
which confirms that weight may be given to policies in emerging plans following 
publication. Based on the current stage of preparation, and given the relative age of the 
saved policies within the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, the policies within the Submission South Downs Local Plan (2018) are 
currently afforded considerable weight, depending on the level of objection received 
on individual policies.

8 Planning Assessment

Main Planning Considerations

1. Principle of proposal
2. Design and impact on the character of the Conservation Area, setting of nearby 

Listed Buildings 
3. Impact on the purposes of the inclusion of the site within the SDNP
4. Impact on neighbours' amenities
5. Impact on protected species
6. Impact on European Protected Sites
7. Impact on trees
8. Highways safety and parking
9. Impact on public rights of way
10. Community Infrastructure Levy

1. Principle of Proposal

The site is located within the Selborne Settlement Policy Boundary where residential 
development would be acceptable in principle (subject to other planning 
considerations) in accordance with EHDLP:JCS Policies CP2 and CP10 and the South 
Downs Submission Local Plan Policies SD25 and SD26.  Saved Policy H3 of the 
EHDLP:JCS is also relevant and this seeks to make use of vacant or underutilised 
sites for housing.  The site is within a Conservation Area and there are a number of 
listed buildings in the vicinity so relevant policies and legislation in this regard must be 
taken into account.  This will be assessed further below.  



Policy relating to Loss of Community Facility

The site currently accommodates a public house building, and this community use is 
protected under Policy CP16 of the EHDLP:JCS and Policy SD43 of the SD 
Submission Local Plan.   As the building also contained hotel accommodation, Policy 
SD23 of the South Downs Submission Local Plan which seeks to retain tourist 
accommodation is also relevant.  The SDNP policies can now be afforded considerable 
weight subject to the level of outstanding objections.

To comply with EHDC:JCS  Policy CP16 it must be demonstrated that the facility is no 
longer required and alternative facilities are available and it must be demonstrated 
through a rigorous marketing exercise that the use is no longer viable, all reasonable 
efforts have been made to retain it and that no alternative use that would benefit the 
local community would be possible.  The SD Submission Local Plan Policy SD43 
states that where development proposals would lead to the loss of an existing 
community facility, it must be demonstrated that there has been a robust marketing 
campaign of at least 12 months that demonstrates that there is no market demand for a 
community use or alternative community facilities are provided that are accessible and 
available without causing a shortfall in the local service provision.  Policy SD23 of the 
SDNP Submission Local Plan requires that development proposals that would result in 
the loss of visitor accommodation will not be permitted unless evidence is provided that 
the current use is unviable and it has been marketed for at least 12 months. 

Marketing

Paragraph 6.57 of the EHDLP:JCS sets out the requirements for a marketing exercise.  
It will be required to show that the facility should have been marketed for at least 12 
months.  As a minimum the record should include:
Confirmation by the marketing agent that the premises were appropriately and 
extensively marketed for this period of time; dated photographs of marketing boards; 
an enquiry log; a copy of advertisements from the local press; evidence of other 
marketing, eg through the internet.

The marketing history provided by Savills (the agent on this application) states that: the 
property was originally put on the market by Punch Taverns on 9 January 2015.  A sale 
was completed on 29 May 2015.  Savills were re-instructed to market the property on 
27 January 2016 and it is still being marketed.

The marketing stated to have been carried out was:
Preparation of in-house marketing particulars giving full details of the property, with 
unconditional offers invited for the freehold interest.  An 'All Enquires' board was 
erected, the property was advertised on a recognised property website and through the 
Savills website, details were included in Savills monthly Licenced Leisure Property list 
which is emailed to 1,500 subscribers.



 
It is stated that there was not a guide price set so that they did not alienate anyone 
from making an offer.  Savills state that they received a total of 130 enquiries, which 
were from a combination of developers, speculators and end users with either a 
requirement to keep as a pub or develop for residential purposes. 

At the time of the application being made, two proposals are said to have been 
received, both of which were accepted and put into solicitors' hands. These were a 
freehold proposal at £675,000 from the previous tenant, Mr Robert Frost, and a 
leasehold proposal at £30,000 per annum (initially £25,000pa) for the ground floor only 
from the Loaf Bakehouse.   Both transactions fell through as the buyer and subsequent 
tenant pulled out for personal reasons.  It is stated that the property was continuously 
marketed during and subsequently to the periods that it was placed under offer.  An 
offer is stated to have been made by Derek Warwick developments in February 2015 
for £870,000 (£70,000 by way of overage).  The purchaser completed on the site in late 
May 2015.

Clearly the site has been marketed, but queries have been raised in a number of 
representations about the marketing process.  It is understood that the offer made on 4 
April 2015 for £675,000 from the previous tenant, that fell through, was only for the 
public house building and a small area of the car park.  With that offer having fallen 
through, the current applicant completed on the whole site, including the field to the 
rear in late May 2015.  According to Selborne Parish Council's consultation comments 
the current owner has acknowledged that he bought the site as a development 
opportunity for housing.  It is noted that the LPA received a pre-application query from 
Savills relating to the possibility of developing two houses on part of the garden area in 
August 2015.  In October 2015 a separate pre-application enquiry was made to the 
Principal Conservation Officer regarding the possibility of demolishing the barn.  Both 
of these pre-application queries resulted in quite negative responses from the LPA 
(they are available on the SDNP website).  Those pre-application enquiries show that 
the applicant was looking at development potential for the site that did not necessarily 
involve loss of the public house.

Savills state that in January 2016 they were instructed to put The Queens back on the 
market and in March 2016 there was interest from a person looking to lease the 
premises for a (retail) bakery.  At that time, a change of use from A4 public house to A1 
retail would have been possible under permitted development rights.  It is stated that 
that person pulled out for 'personal reasons', but it has also been suggested that 
negative feedback from villagers over this proposal influence this decision.  A planning 
application to convert The Queens site to housing followed in October 2016 but was 
withdrawn, prior to a decision being made, in April 2017.  Further applications to 
convert the barn to a dwelling and to erect a dwelling in the grounds were made in late 
2017 but were refused for a number of reasons, including that the LPA disputed the 
claim that the use of the site had changed from A4 to A2 (see below), and the 
necessary marketing information to comply with JCS Policy CP16 had not been 
included with the applications.



When the previous applications for a dwelling in the grounds of the public house and to 
extend and convert the barn were submitted in late 2017, it was claimed that the 
change of use from A4 to A2 under permitted development rights had been carried out 
between 30 March 2016 and 7 November 2016 (the GDPO was amended in May 2017 
to remove the permitted development right from A4 to A2 professional office use).  This 
claim obviously conflicts with the fact that a planning application for a change of use 
from A4 public house to A3 residential use was made in October 2016.

Whilst the application was being considered and up until the application was withdrawn 
in April 2017, no suggestion was made that any works had been carried out to allow 
the change of use from A4 to A2, or that the building was being used for A2 purposes. 
On the contrary, evidence of the marketing of the building for A4 use was being 
provided to the LPA right up until the application was withdrawn.

When the case officer originally visited the site on 9 November 2016, there was no 
evidence that any conversion works had taken place and the building was closed up.  
More recently officers have been inside the buildings and have seen no evidence of 
any works having been carried out to convert the buildings for office use, or for 
residential use on the first floor, or of these uses taking place (although fixtures and 
fittings have been removed).  The LPA retains its opinion that the lawful use of the 
premises is an A4 public house with ancillary tourist accommodation.

As stated above, the current application, whilst not agreeing with the LPA's view on the 
lawful planning use of the building, includes marketing information to address the 
requirements of JCS Policy CP16 and SD43 of the SD Submission Local Plan.  The 
applicants state that they 'reserve their position in regard to the current lawful use of 
the premises'.

The most recent marketing information submitted with this application shows it being 
marketed as an 'A2' use, which the LPA does not accept as the planning use of the site 
for the reasons outlined above.  Nevertheless, the original marketing was as a public 
house and the local community group that has an interest in retaining it as public house 
is clearly aware of its planning use as a public house.  Anyone with an interest in 
purchasing could easily approach the LPA regarding the planning use of the site.

Another issue with regards to the 'marketing' relates to exactly what part of the site the 
proposals received related to, and exactly what part of the site was for sale or lease at 
what price.  The site consists of the public house building, its surrounding garden area, 
the adjacent barn and car park and a field to the rear, and the marketing information 
does not make it clear what part of the site the offers received related to. In a letter 
dated 19 December 2016 (with regard to the previous change of use application) 
Savills stated that they allowed parties to offer on the building and a small element of 
the car park, the pub trade gardens and carpark and the additional land to the rear.  



It is stated in the application documents that The Queens has been marketed by Savills 
for Punch Taverns for over 4 months and then subsequently by Derek Warwick 
Developments for a further 26 months, totalling well in excess of 2 years continuous 
marketing.  It is claimed that there was negligible interest from pub and restaurant 
operators and there was little interest in any alternative community use. The removal of 
the internal fixtures and fittings is stated to have been in anticipation of the bakery use 
taking place, although it has been queried by objectors why these works would have 
been carried out prior to a definite sale or lease being in place.

Alternative Facilities

Clearly there have been attempts to market The Queens, but in accordance with 
EHDLP:JCS Policy CP16, it must also be ascertained that the facility is no longer 
required and alternative facilities are easily accessible for the community.

There is an alternative public house in Selborne, so it could be argued that the facility 
is not 'required' from the point of view of providing a local drinking and meeting facility.  
There have been local attempts to have The Queens registered as an Asset of 
Community Value (ACV) but these have failed.  If a building such as a public house is 
registered as an ACV then the owner must inform the Local Authority if they wish to sell 
it and if a group wishes to buy the asset they can trigger a moratorium for 6 months to 
give them a chance to raise funds to purchase the asset.  An ACV designation does 
not require the owner to sell at a discount to the group.

It is considered that it has been demonstrated that The Queens has been marketed for 
the required period of time, but it has been raised by a number of the objectors that the 
price quoted to potential purchasers has not realistically reflected its value, particularly 
as it has become run-down over the last 3 years and during this period the internal 
fixtures and fittings have been stripped out.  

The LPA is in possession of emails from a prospective purchaser who, in late 2016, 
approached Savills with an indication that he was willing to pay up to around £700k for 
the premises, but was advised that the price to buy 'the whole site' was in the order of 
£1.15m.  

The most recent price indicated for the premises (believed to exclude the field to the 
rear) is understood to be 'north of one million pounds'.  It is noted that Savills submitted 
a viability report in October 2016 with application reference SDNP/16/05403/FUL, to 
justify the non-provision of affordable housing, which gave a considerably lower 
existing use value for the public house.  The exact figure was requested to be kept 
confidential, but reflected the purchase price of the site.      
                 



A group of local people has commissioned a valuation of The Queens by Fleurets, who 
specialise in this type of property market, and who have valued the site excluding the 
field at £500,000, considerably less than the price that potential purchasers have been 
quoted, less than what Savills valued it at in late 2016 and less than the 2015 purchase 
price.  It should be noted that the LPA commissioned the District Valuation Officer to 
investigate the viability of provision of affordable housing with regards to 
SDNP/16/05403/FUL, in March 2017, and the DVO was of the opinion that the Savills 
valuation was reasonable at that time (around £800,000).  

In response to the Fleurets valuation, the applicant has stated that the current asking 
price for the premises includes his planning and holding costs over the last 3 years.  
Clearly the owner has incurred costs (though the local residents group points out that 
these costs include those of removing all the fixtures and fittings) and there is no 
indication that any offers have been made of even the level of the £800,000 originally 
paid for the site without the overage for the field.  The most recent offers that the LPA 
has seen was from a group of local residents and was for £139,050 for the site without 
the field and one for £340,000, both of which have been rejected by the owners.  

There is, therefore, some question over the marketing campaign with regards to the 
price being quoted to interested purchasers, but there is also another element to the 
requirements of EHDLP:JCS Policy CP16 in that a change of use may be permitted if it 
can be demonstrated through the marketing exercise that the use is no longer viable.  

Is the use no longer viable?

The applicant has commissioned a report by Davis Coffer Lyons to attempt to 
demonstrate that it would not be viable for the premises to be put back into use as a 
public house. It is estimated that the total costs for the refurbishment work would be in 
the order of £605,000, plus additional costs for financing the project and for the period 
when trade was built up, taking the total to around £720,000.  If this were added to the 
valuation given to the premises by Fleurets of £500,000 then the total costs to re-
establish The Queens as public house would be around £1,220,000.  The Fleurets 
report suggests a figure of £500,000 to refurbish the premises, and if this were added 
to its valuation, the total costs to re-establish The Queens would be £1m.  Either one of 
these figures is considerably in excess of the indicative value of The Queens as a 
public house business once open and trading, of around £860,000 (this is close to the 
figure that the DVO agreed The Queens would be worth as a trading public house).  
The offer of £139,050 made by the group of local people is based upon the amount 
required to bring the public house back into use as stated in the DCL report.   The offer 
of £340,000 was also based upon a figure of £500,000 to restore the building as a 
public house.



As stated above, even if The Queens had an ACV designation (which it does not), 
there would be no requirement that the owner sell it at a discounted price under its 
market value.  The LPA is not in a position to require that the public house is sold at a 
price that would allow it to be economically put back to use and both the Fleurets report 
(prepared on behalf of a group of residents) and the DCL report, (prepared on behalf of 
the applicant) agree that a considerable amount of expenditure would be required to 
enable The Queens to be re-established as a public house. The viability of this ever 
occurring must seriously be questioned.  

The continued deterioration of The Queens, which is situated in a prominent location in 
the Selborne Conservation Area, is a matter of concern and this has been raised in a 
number of representations that have been received in favour of the application.  The 
site also affects the setting of a number of listed buildings.  Issues in relation to the 
Conservation Area location will be assessed further below, but concerns over the 
viability of the public house use being reinstated and the impact of the site in its current 
state on the character of the conservation area are considered to narrowly tip the 
balance in favour of the principle of the application proposal.  

In order for the marketing and viability issues to be fully assessed, the LPA has 
commissioned Vail Williams to independently assess the marketing and viability 
information.  Their report was produced in November 2018 and concludes in terms of 
marketing that the minimum standards of marketing have broadly been met.  The fact 
that two offers have been made by parties with a local interest does indicate that not all 
potential purchasers were put off by an apparently high guide price.  With regard to 
viability, Vail Williams note that the financial viability should be based on existing use 
value (excluding hope value), business trading information, relevant development 
costs, supporting marketing evidence and sensitivity testing.  Vail Williams reviewed 
the reports prepared by Davis Coffer Lyons and Fleurets, and were advised about the 
offers that have been made on the premises. 

The three key issues in regards to the viability assessment were seen to be: 
1) the anticipated level of trade as an operational pub/restaurant/hotel and whether this 
is sufficient for a viable long-term operation;
2) an appropriate price at which an operator could acquire the premises (existing use, 
excluding hope value), 
3) the cost of repair and refurbishment and fitting out as a pub/hotel.  

Conclusions of Council’s Appointed Viability Assessor

The conclusions of Vail Williams, based upon this assessment is that:
'1.  The marketing process has been somewhat flawed by over optimistic guide 
price and marketing details that have emphasised the development possibilities as well 
as the existing attributes of the pub/hotel.  Nevertheless, we conclude that the property 
has been openly marketed for well in excess of 24 months.  The marketing report 
makes clear that no offers have been received at price levels that we believe would 
have been reasonable for the current owner to accept.



2. The owner cannot be compelled to sell the building at any price and, given that 
they acquired it for £800,000 we consider it unrealistic to expect a subsequent sale at 
anything below £500,000.  Even this would crystallise a significant loss, but it is 
acknowledged that the owner has reduced the value of the pub by stripping out the pub 
fittings;
3. Based on our investigations, and review of all documentation provided by the 
LPA [including the Fleurets and Davis Coffer Lyons reports, and information on offers 
made] we do not consider it realistic to expect a new owner to invest in bringing the 
pub back into use based on our assessment of the trading potential.
4. Our conclusion therefore, is that the property is no longer viable for long term 
use as a pub/restaurant with letting rooms.
5. Other community-based uses are unlikely to be realistic within a building that is 
built and adapted for use as a pub.  We note that one offer was made from an 
applicant considering a bakery/café use, but they withdrew and no other interest is 
apparent for alternative similar operations. A café use wold compete directly with the 
existing offers at the Selborne Tea Rooms and White's café in Gilbert White's house, 
so this market is adequately covered within this small village.'

This independent assessment, therefore, mirrors the views of the LPA in terms of the 
marketing and viability of this proposal.  It is concluded that the principle of the loss of 
the public house with ancillary guest rooms is acceptable.

2. Design and impact on the character of the Conservation Area, setting of nearby 
Listed Buildings

The site is within the Selborne Conservation Area and is close to several listed 
buildings.

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires planning authorities to consider the effect of a development proposal on the 
setting of a listed building, having special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting.  Section 72 of this Act requires LPAs to have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of a 
Conservation Area, when considering applications for development.  The NPPF sets 
out further Government Policy with regard to conserving heritage assets.   Paragraph 
172 of the NPPF sets out further policy consideration in relation to conserving the 
landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks.  It is stated that cultural heritage is an 
important consideration that should be given great weight in National Parks.  



Policies CP29 and CP30 of the EHDLP: Second Review seek to ensure that a 
development proposal should harmonise with the townscape and the general character 
of the village in which it is set and that it easily assimilates into the landscape or is well 
related to a group of buildings.  Policy CP30 of the JCS states that development 
proposals must conserve and where possible, enhance the District's historic 
environment.  Saved Policies HE4, HE5, HE7 and HE12 of the EHDLP: Second 
Review are also relevant in relation to new development in Conservation Areas. Policy 
HE4 requires that development should preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance of the area, as does Policy HE5 in relation to alterations to existing 
buildings in CAs. 

Policy HE7 relates to demolition in a CA and Policy HE12 states that development that 
harms the setting of a listed building will not be permitted.  Policy SD13 of the SDNP 
Submission Local Plan seeks to conserve and enhance listed buildings or their 
settings. Development that affects the setting of a listed building will only be permitted 
where harm to its setting is considered to outweighed by public benefits by the LPA.  
Policy SD15 states that development proposals within a conservation area… will only 
be permitted is they preserve or enhance the special architectural or historic interest, 
character or appearance of the conservation area. Demolition of all or part of a building 
will only be permitted where the current buildings or structures make no positive 
contribution to the special architectural or historic interest, character or appearance of 
the conservation area and the replacement would make an equal or greater 
contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area.

The Queens lies in a prominent location within the heart of the Conservation Area and 
is in close proximity to a number of listed buildings.  The public house has a rich history 
and is a well-known local landmark which makes a significant positive contribution to 
the character of the Conservation Area and the village as a whole.  It has fallen short of 
the criteria for listing but it is of clear local interest.  In heritage terms, the preferable 
future use of the building would be as a public house thereby retaining the cultural 
significance of the heritage asset.  However, although less preferable, the proposed 
change of use to residential would help the ensure the occupation of the building and 
its future upkeep.  Therefore, the Conservation Officer does not have an objection in 
principle to the residential conversion provided the scheme fulfils the statutory and 
policy requirement to 'conserve or enhance' the character and appearance of the area.

With regards to the proposed changes to The Queens itself, the proposals are 
relatively 'light touch'.  The building would be converted into three apartments, one 
would have three bedrooms, and the other two would have two bedrooms each.  The 
existing single storey wing to the south east of the building would be demolished (and a 
new dwelling would be located in its place).  The ancillary flat roofed structures would 
be removed, which would benefit the appearance of the building. There are no 
objections to the proposed additional windows, dormer windows and rooflights in the 
existing public house building as all appear well proportioned and of traditional 
appearance to match the existing.



In his original consultation response, the Conservation Officer stated that in his opinion, 
the works to the Queens building could be improved in relation to the proposed new 
porch in the SE Elevation.  It was suggested that the timber cladding be omitted and 
the external walls be of rendered brick to match the exterior of the building.  Amended 
drawings have been submitted and the Conservation Officer has stated that the 
proposed amendments to the external treatment of the Queens overcomes his 
concerns.

Unlike previous schemes, the basement area is not proposed to be used under the 
current proposals. There is no objection to this, however given the basement is the 
oldest and possibly the only surviving part of the original Compasses pub, the 
Conservation Officer would like to see information regarding the ventilation serving the 
basement and future access arrangements as no information has been included.
This could be required to be provided by condition if permission is granted.

With regards to the conversion and extension of the barn to the NW of The Queens, 
there is no objection in heritage terms.  This part of the proposal would create a new 
three bedroomed dwelling.  The plans submitted show the design and amount of 
fenestration proposed to the south-west elevation to be generally in keeping with the 
residential conversion proposed, with the traditional appearance of the barn mostly 
retained from the front. The additional built form proposed is to the rear and as such 
would not feature prominently from the street scene to the south-west. The extension 
would be in a style to match the existing barn, with the ground levels shown to be 
lowered so that the extension would not appear higher than the existing barn.  Details 
of levels would be required to ensure that this was implemented as approved.  The 
impact of this part of the scheme would be screened from the public realm on the High 
Street and therefore the impact on the character of the Conservation Area to the front 
is limited. Where views may be afforded to the rear, given the relationship of the 
existing barn to The Queens and the overall density of buildings on site, the extension 
is considered acceptable in terms of the impact on the Conservation Area. Additionally, 
the conversion to habitable use would ensure the future use and upkeep of this non-
designated heritage asset.



A new two storey, three bedroomed dwelling is proposed to the South East of the 
retained public house building.  The Conservation Officer commented on the original 
design for the proposed dwelling to the SE that he did not consider it to be successful 
by reason of design, location and scale.   The design was similar to that previously 
refused permission under application reference SDNP/17/05420/FUL.  The original 
proposals resembled a 'barn conversion' like structure which was not considered to be 
successful and would not relate well to the character of the area. As previously noted, 
nearly all the buildings in the vicinity are set close up to the pavement or onto the street 
edge and help create the sense of intimacy in the village.   The proposed dwelling has 
been redesigned and would be a two-storey, pitched roofed building with half-dormer 
windows to the front.  It would be 6.8 m in height, so would be considerably lower than 
the adjacent public house building, which is 9 m in height.  The proposed dwelling has 
been repositioned on the site from the original submission and is considered to better 
relate to the character of the Conservation Area. The Conservation Officer 
recommends that materials should be required to be agreed by condition if permission 
is granted.

In response to an objection made by the Ancient Monuments Society (AMS), the 
Conservation Officer states that whilst the significance of the building and its positive 
contribution to the Conservation Area is noted and resembles his own assessment, he 
does not agree with the objections raised.  He draws attention to a comprehensive 
assessment of building and its remaining historic significance undertaken by Historic 
England when the building was unsuccessfully put forward for listing in May 2016.  
That report states that the interior has suffered from a high degree of modernisation.  
The original plan form of the upper floors has been lost.  The building was seen to have 
undergone successive phases of remodelling, resulting in the loss of the original plan 
form and considerable historic fabric.  It was seen to lack any evidence of an historic 
pub interior which would provide contextual interest, and insufficient fabric from either 
its earliest phase or its C19th rebuilding was seen to survive.   Whilst the AMS does 
not favour the design of the proposed new dwelling, the Conservation Officer sees this 
as a subjective assessment, and he sees the success of the scheme as being 
dependent upon the use of good quality materials.  

In summary, whilst the preferred heritage use of the site would be to retain its original 
use as a public house, it is acknowledged that this proposal would lead to an occupier 
for the building and would ensure its retention.  

Now that the scheme has been amended, it is considered that it would meet the 
statutory and policy requirement to 'conserve or enhance' the character and 
appearance of the area.  The proposal would therefore be in accordance with 
EHDLP:JCS Policies CP29 and CP30, EHDLP: Second Review Policies HE4, HE5, 
HE7 and HE12, SD Submission Local Plan Policies SD12, SD13 and SD15,  Section 
66 and Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
and Section 16 of the NPPF.



3. Impact on the purposes of the inclusion of the site within the SDNP

The purposes of the National Park designation is to conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area, and to promote opportunities for the 
understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park by the public.  
The view of the Conservation Officer is that the cultural heritage of the area would be 
conserved and enhanced by this proposal.  The impact on wildlife is assessed below.  
It is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the purposes of including the 
site within the SDNP.

4. Impact on neighbours' amenities

Policy CP27 of the EHDLP:JCS requires that development will not be permitted if it 
would have an unacceptable effect on the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring 
properties through loss of privacy or excessive overshadowing.  Paragraph 127 (f) of 
the NPPF requires that the amenities of all existing and proposed occupiers should be 
protected.   Policy SD5 of the SDNP Submission Local Plan requires that design 
principles should have regard to avoiding harmful impact upon, or from, any 
surrounding land uses.  

The proposed dwelling would be located to the south-east of the existing public house 
building.  The south-east side elevation would face Huckers Lane and there are 
rooflights proposed in the side elevation to a bedroom. It is not clear how high these 
would be above floor level and they would look towards Forge Cottage to the south-
east, at a distance of about 12m.  It would be possible to condition these to be obscure 
glazed and non-opening below 1.7m as the bedroom has other windows in the rear 
elevation.  There would also be rooflights to a bathroom in the north-west side 
elevation and they would face towards the south-east side of the apartments in the 
converted hotel building, which would have windows to living and bedroom 
accommodation.  The rooflight could be conditioned to be obscure glazed and non-
opening below 1.7m to avoid inter-looking between buildings.  

The barn that it is proposed to convert and extend to form another dwelling is located 
on the north-west side of the hotel building, but set back from it so that there would not 
be direct overlooking between windows.  It would also be set back behind Whites 
Cottage, to the north-west of the site.  No first floor windows would face towards 
Whites Cottage from the barn, apart from glazing above a void area.



There would be windows serving stairways at first floor level in the north-west elevation 
of the converted hotel building, looking towards Whites Cottage at a distance of some 
19m (the front of that dwelling faces sideways on its plot towards The Queens).  It is 
recommended that these be conditioned to be obscure glazed and non-opening below 
1.7m.  The dormer windows in the north-west elevation would be set back by 20m from 
Whites Cottage, and would serve a bedroom (this would be a new dormer window) and 
a void area.  There would also be a rooflight above a landing in the same elevation. 
The bedroom would have another window in its south-east elevation and it is 
recommended that the new dormer window in the north-west elevation be required to 
be obscure glazed and non-opening below 1.7m.

With the recommended conditions, the requirements of paragraph 127 of the NPPF, 
Policy CP27 of the EHDLP:JCS and Policy SD5 of the SDNP  Pre-submission Local 
Plan would be addressed with regards to the provision and protection of amenity for all.

5. Impact on protected species

The application was accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal Phase 1 and 2 bat 
surveys report and an Interim Bat Report has been submitted during the course of 
consideration of the application.  The 2017 and 2018 bat surveys identified a small 
number of pipistrelle and long-eared bat droppings within the barn interior, although no 
bats were observed emerging from or entering the building.  Unmitigated the proposal 
has potential to harm bats.  A European Protected Species Licence can only be 
granted if 3 tests can be met: 

1. The consented operation must be for 'preserving public health or public safety or 
other imperative reasons of over-riding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment'.

2. There must be no 'satisfactory alternative'

3. The actions must not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.

The first criterion depends upon this proposal being considered as acceptable in 
planning policy terms and therefore in the 'public interest'.  In terms of the second 
criterion, there is no other current option for the future use of the barn.  In terms of the 
third criterion, the County Ecologist is satisfied that sufficient survey effort has been 
expended upon which to base informed mitigation proposals.  Subject to a condition 
with regard to ecological mitigation the proposal would be in accordance with 
EHDLP:JCS Policy CP21 and the SDNP Pre-submission Local Plan Policy SD9.



6. Impact on European Protected Sites

The site is located 4km from the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area and 
therefore a Habitats Regulations Assessment has been required.  The LPA has carried 
out an Appropriate Assessment on this basis and this has been sent to the County 
Ecologist and to Natural England.  The County Ecologist states that he does not 
consider that the proposal would realistically impact the Wealden Heaths SPA.  Natural 
England has stated that it considers that the proposal would not have likely significant 
effects on protected species and it has no objection in terms of impact on protected 
sites.

The proposal would be in accordance with EHDLP:JCS Policy CP22 and SDNP 
Submission Local Plan Policy SD10.

7. Impact on trees

There are a number of trees on the site, which are protected through their 
Conservation Area location.  The Arboricultural Officer requested amendments to the 
tree protection plan during the course of consideration of the application.  These have 
been provided, and subject to the amended Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree 
Protection Plan being followed, he has no objection.

The proposal would be in accordance with EHDLP:Local Plan Second Review Policy 
C6 and Policy SD11 of the SDNP Submission Local Plan.

8. Highway safety and parking

The application proposes that four of the proposed five dwellings would be accessed 
from Huckers Lane, from which there is already an access to the rear of the site and 
through to the public house car parking area.  The County Highway Authority has no 
objection to this use subject to visibility being improved to 2.4m by 17m at the Huckers 
Lane access.  It is noted that the access to the site would be widened to allow two cars 
to pass and the visibility improved.  The converted barn would be accessed via the 
existing access from the frontage of the site onto the High Street.

Concerns have also been raised by objectors to the proposal regarding safety at the 
access from Huckers Lane onto the B3006.  Due to concerns regarding the potential 
impact on visibility at the junction, an amended drawing has been submitted relocating 
the refuse storage area from the frontage to the side of the dwelling.  The County 
Highway Authority has also requested the imposition of a condition requiring that a 
2.4m by 25m visibility splay be provided at the Huckers Lane/B3006 junction when 
looking to the north west from the access, and this is included in the recommendation.



The residential use of the site would result in a decrease in traffic movements using the 
two access points and it is considered that the proposed residential use together with 
alterations to the site frontage and Huckers Lane junction, would be an improvement 
over the current situation. 

Adequate on-site parking space is proposed to meet the requirements of the proposed 
development and the County Highway Authority has no objection to the proposal 
subject to the visibility splays being provided as recommended and the parking being 
provided in accordance with the approved plans.  As such the proposal accords with 
EHDLP:JCS Policy CP31 and SDNP Submission Local Plan Policies SD19 and SD22.

9. Impact on public rights of way

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review Policy T4 requires that 
development should not adversely affect the amenities of users of rights of way.  SDNP 
Submission Local Plan Policy SD20 requires that developments should maintain 
existing public rights of way.

Huckers Lane provides access to the Selborne Byway Open to All Traffic 68, which 
leads to East Hampshire Hangers.  The route of the Writers’ Way recreational route 
passes along the High Street and Huckers Lane.  The HCC Countryside Team advise 
that to ensure that the potential impact of the proposals on vulnerable non-motorised  
users of the BOAT are taken into account in accordance with the NPPF paragraphs 98 
and 109, informative notes should be included in any decision with regard to not 
adversely affecting the right of way, which must be available for public use at all times.  

The proposal would be in accordance with EHDLP:Second Review, SDNP and NPPF 
Policies in this regard.

10. Community Infrastructure Levy

The proposal would be subject to Community Infrastructure Levy and the required 
forms have been submitted.  A note to the applicant is recommended in this regard.



9 Conclusion

It is concluded that the requirements of EHDLP:JCS Policy CP16 and SDNP 
Submission Local Plan Policy SD43 have been met in terms of the duration of 
marketing, although there have been flaws in the marketing process, particularly in 
terms of an over-optimistic guide price being given to potential purchasers.  However, 
the long-term viability of the use as a public house must also be considered, and even 
with the building being sold at a substantial loss, an assessment of the trading potential 
of the public house indicates that it would not be realistic to expect a new owner to 
invest in bringing the pub back into use.  There is another public house in the village 
and there has been no clear interest in any other community type use taking over the 
building.  The Conservation Officer is of the view that whilst the preferred use of the 
building in heritage terms would be as a public house, the current proposal would meet 
the requirements to preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area, and 
would put the main part of the public house building back into a long-term use that 
would ensure its potential.  There would not be any adverse impact on trees or on 
highways safety, and the impact on protected species would be acceptable.  The 
proposal would be in accordance with EHDLP: Second Review, EHDLP:JCS, SDNP 
Submission Local Plan and NPPF Policies.

10 Reason for Recommendation and Conditions

It is recommended that the application be Approved for the reasons set out above and 
subject to the conditions set out below.

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason -  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended)./ To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

2. Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application".
Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological mitigation 
measures detailed within the Ecological Appraisal Phase 1 and 2 bat surveys report 
(Lindsay Carrington Ecological Services Ltd, July 2017) and Final Bat Report (Intel 
Ecology, June 2018) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
The proposed bat compensation and enhancement features shall be retained in 
perpetuity in a location and condition that is suitable to their intended function. 



Reason - to protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation Regulations 2017, 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and with Policy CP21 of 
the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.

4. No development shall commence on site until details, including labelled samples 
(manufacturer, type and where it is to be used) of all external materials (including 
finishes), have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason - To ensure the materials and finishes to be used are appropriate, in order to 
maintain the character and appearance of the conservation area.  It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be 
agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the 
planning permission.

5. Notwithstanding the approved plans, the development hereby permitted shall 
not be commenced until detailed drawings of the windows and external doors for the 
conversion of the barn and public house have been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details to comprise:-

Plans to clearly identify the window and door in question and its location within the 
property. Where a large number of windows and doors are involved the windows 
should be cross referenced to an elevation drawing or floor plan for the avoidance of 
doubt.
1:20 elevation and plan; 1:5 section and full size glazing bar detail.  The details to 
include the position of the window within the opening (depth of reveal) and method of 
fixing the glazing (putty or beading) 
The materials used, method of opening and finishes. 

The works shall be carried out in full accordance with such approval and be retained 
thereafter.
Reason - In order to safeguard the building's special architectural and historic interest.  
It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these 
details need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission.

6. Prior to their first installation, the finishes of all rainwater goods shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and thereafter 
implemented and retained as agreed. 
Reason - To protect the character and appearance of the conservation area.

7. The window frames in the new dwelling to the south-east of the public house 
building shall be finished in timber and thereafter retained as such.
Reason - To protect the character of the conservation area.



8. Details of the siting and design of any proposed external meter boxes/metal 
ducting/flues shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of development. 
Reason - To protect the character of the conservation area.  It is considered necessary 
for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior 
to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission.

9. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the areas 
shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles including garages and those 
areas marked out on the plan as being unallocated shall have been made available, 
surfaced and marked out. The parking areas shall then be permanently retained and 
reserved for that purpose at all times.
Reason - To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway safety.

10. No development shall start on site until the access, including the footway and/or 
verge crossing shall be constructed and lines of sight of 2.4 metres by 17 metres 
provided at the access onto Huckers Lane in accordance with the approved plans.  The 
lines of site splays shown on the approved plan shall be kept free of any obstruction 
exceeding 0.6 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter.
Reason - To provide satisfactory access with sufficient levels of visibility in the interests 
of highway safety.  It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement 
condition because the road and footpaths are essential to highway safety, upon which 
the remainder of the development hinges.  As such this is required to be addressed 
prior to development commencing and therefore goes to the heart of the planning 
permission.

11. No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for foul and 
surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  Such details should include provision for all surface water drainage 
from parking areas and areas of hardstanding to prevent surface water from 
discharging onto the highway and should be based on site investigation and 
percolation tests.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details before any part of the development is first occupied and shall be 
retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as such details need to be taken into account in 
the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission.
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage Consultant as soon 
as possible to discuss the details required for the discharge of the above condition.

12. The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a permeable 
or porous surface within the site.



Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and avoid 
discharge of water onto the public highway.

13. The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until a fully 
detailed landscape (including colours and textures of surfaces) and planting scheme 
for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
in accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British Standards or other 
recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall be carried out in the first 
planting season after practical completion or first occupation of the development, 
whichever is earlier, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are removed, die or 
become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably 
practicable with others of species, size and number as originally approved unless a 
suitable alternative species is otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to enable proper 
consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed development on existing trees.

14. No development shall commence on site until plans of the site showing details 
of the existing and proposed ground levels, proposed finished floor levels, levels of any 
steps, paths, drives, garages and parking areas and the proposed completed height of 
the development and any retaining walls have been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The details shall clearly identify the 
relationship of the proposed ground levels and proposed completed height with 
adjacent buildings.  The development thereafter shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.
Reason - To ensure that a satisfactory relationship results between the new 
development and adjacent buildings and public areas.  It is considered necessary for 
this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details relate to the construction of 
the development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.

15. The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until a 
detailed boundary treatment plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall include details of the positions, design, 
materials/species of the boundary treatments to be erected/planted.  The approved 
details shall be fully implemented before the use of the development is commenced 
and/or any part of the development is occupied and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure an appropriate standard of visual amenity in the area and to 
safeguard the privacy and amenities of the residents of the locality.



16. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement 1989 as amended 28/9/2018 and Tree 
Protection Plan 1989/3G dated 28/9/2018, prepared by Partridge Associates.  During 
the course of development, written and photographic evidence of contemporaneous 
supervision and monitoring of tree protection measures stipulated in these documents, 
by a suitably qualified and pre-appointed tree specialist, must be kept, and these must 
be submitted to the LPA for approval prior to the first occupation of the dwellings.
Reason - To ensure that the trees on and around the site are adequately protected 
from damage to their health and /or amenity value

17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or 
modifying that Order) no extensions and outbuildings otherwise permitted under 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class(es) A, B, C, D, E of said Order shall be carried out on the 
dwellinghouses or within their curtilages without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason - It is considered that further extension/alteration of these dwellings could 
result in an adverse effect upon the adjacent properties and the visual character of the 
area.

18. Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans, and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) 
prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved the first floor rooflights 
in the north-west and south-east elevations of the new dwelling adjacent to Huckers 
Lane, and the first floor windows and the new dormer window in the north-west 
elevation of the converted hotel building shall be permanently; 
(i) glazed with obscure glass with a glass panel which has been rendered obscure as 
part of its manufacturing process to Pilkington glass classification 5 (or equivalent of 
glass supplied by an alternative manufacturer), and 
(ii) non-opening below 1.7 metres from the finished floor level of the room in which the 
window is installed.
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining residential properties.

19. Prior to the commencement of development on the site, details of the provision 
of access to and ventilation of the cellars to the retained Queens building shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The works shall be implemented 
prior to first occupation and thereafter retained.
Reason - To preserve the historic interest of the building during conversion works.  
Pre-commencement so that the impact of conversion works is fully taken into account.

20. No development shall commence on site until a scheme has been submitted to, 
and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the built 
development hereby permitted incorporates measures that provides at least 10% of 
energy demand from decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy sources. 



Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report and 
completion certificate shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority 
confirming that the built development hereby permitted has been constructed in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 
The developer shall nominate a competent person for the purpose of assessing and 
providing the above required report and certificate to confirm that the completed works 
incorporate such measures as to provide these requirements.  
The measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained to the agreed specification 
for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary mitigation and 
adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as these details relate to the construction of the 
development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.

21. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until lines of site of 
2.4m by 25m to the north-west have been provided at the access from Huckers Lane to 
the B3006.  The lines of site splays shall be shown on a plan, to be first agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be kept free of any obstruction 
exceeding 0.6 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter.
Reason - To provide satisfactory access with sufficient levels of visibility in the interests 
of highway safety.

11. Crime and Disorder Implications 
11.1 It is considered that the proposal does not raise any crime and disorder implications. 

12. Human Rights Implications 
12.1 This planning application has been considered in light of statute and case law and any 

interference with an individual’s human rights is considered to be proportionate to the 
aims sought to be realised. 

13. Equality Act 2010 
13.1 Due regard has been taken of the South Downs National Park Authority’s equality duty 

as contained within the Equality Act 2010. 

14. Proactive Working 
The LPA has engaged with the agent and applicant to seek to address issues that 
have been raised during the course of consideration of the application.



Contact Officer: Nicky Powis 
Tel: 01730 234226
email: nicky.powis@easthants.gov.uk

Appendices Appendix 1 – Plans Referred to in Consideration of this 
Application

SDNPA Consultees

Background 
Documents



Appendix 1 – Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application

The application has been assessed and recommendation is made on the basis of the 
following plans and documents submitted:

Plan Type Reference Version Date on Plan Status
Application Form - 11.05.2018 Submitted
Application Documents - CIL 
form 0

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Design and access 
statement

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Arboricultural method 
statement and tree survey

11.05.2018 Superseded

Application Documents - 
Ecological appraisal

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Updated phase 1 bat survey

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Marketing report

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Interim bat report

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Planning statement

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Heritage statement

11.05.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 4 x 
3D perspectives

11.05.2018 Superseded

OS Extract - Location plan 02-02-001 11.05.2018 Approved
Plans - Existing site plan 02-02-002 11.05.2018 Approved
Plans - Existing site plan 02-91-001 11.05.2018 Approved
Plans - Proposed demolition 02-03-007 11.05.2018 Approved
Plans - Proposed street 
elevation

02-05-013 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed total site 
plan

02-02-003A 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Existing floor plans 02-91-002 11.05.2018 Approved



Plans - Existing elevations 02-91-003 11.05.2018 Approved
Plans - Existing barn 
elevations

02-91-004 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed first floor 
plan (the queens)

02-03-002 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed ground 
floor plan (the queens)

02-03-001 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed second 
floor (the queens)

02-03-003 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed north east 
elevation (the queens)

02-05-004 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed south west 
elevation (the queens)

02-05-002 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed north west 
elevation (the queens)

02-05-001 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed south east 
elevation (the queens)

02-05-003 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed roof plan 
(the queens)

02-03-004 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed north east 
elevation (new dwelling)

02-05-008 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed south east 
elevation (new dwelling)

02-05-007 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed south west 
elevation (new dwelling)

02-05-006 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed  ground 
and first floor plan (new 
dwelling)

02-03-005 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed north west 
elevation (new dwelling)

02-05-005 11.05.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed south east 
elevation (the barn)

02-05-010 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed south west 
elevation (the barn)

02-05-009 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed north west 
elevation (the barn)

02-05-012 11.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed floor plans 
(the barn)

02-03-006A 22.05.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed north east 02-05-011 11.05.2018 Approved



elevation (the barn)
Plans - Tree protection plan 1989/3E 11.05.2018 Superseded
Plans - South West 
Elevation, new dwelling

02-05-006 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Miscellaneous - Final Bat 
Report for the Barn, Intel 
Ecology

P106.1.1 22.06.2018 Approved

Miscellaneous - Local 
Building Styles

P18-014 03.08.2018 Approved

Miscellaneous - Plot 2 
Materials

03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - North East Elevation, 
new dwelling

02-05-008 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - South East Elevation 
new dwelling

02-05-007 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - North West 
Elevation, new dwelling

02-05-005 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - South East 
Elevation, Queens hotel 
building

02-05-003 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - South West 
Elevation, Queens hotel 
building

02-05-002 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - Ground, first floor 
and roof plans, proposed 
new dwelling

02-03-005 A 03.08.2018 Approved

Plans - Proposed whole site 
plan

02-02-003 B 03.08.2018 Superseded

Plans - Proposed Street 
Elevation from High Street

02-05-013 A 18.10.2018 Approved

Miscellaneous - Davis Coffer 
Lyons, report on viabilty 
received 3/9/2018

Viability 
assessment

03.09.2018 Approved

Application Documents - 
Updated Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree 
Survey

PA-1989-3G 28.09.2018 Approved

Plans - Tree Protection Plan 1989/3 G 28.09.2018 Approved
Application Documents - 4 22.10.2018 Approved



by 3D perspectives - 
amended
Plans - Proposed Whole Site 
Plan

02-02-003 C 03.01.2019 Approved

Application Form - Habitat 
Regulations Assessment, 
Eclipse Ecology

P106.2.0 03.09.2018 Approved

Reasons: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.



Part 2 Item 1, Queens Hotel, High Street, Selborne

Proposed site plan



Part 2 Item 1, Queens Hotel, High Street, Selborne

Proposed street scene

Proposed north-west elevation



Part 2 Item 1, Queens Hotel, High Street, Selborne

Proposed re-development of The Barn, south-west elevation




	Agenda
	 Committee preface including JCS amended January 2019
	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 21594/023/FUL/LTu - Searle & Taylor House, The Dene, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0BH
	7.(ii) 58086/HSE/BB - 22 Stonehill Road, Headley Down, Bordon, GU35 8ET
	8.(i) SDNP/18/02564/FUL - The Queens Hotel, High Street, Selborne, Alton, GU34 3JH

